IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

ANGELIA H. CHITTY

APPELLANT

V.

CASE NO. 2008-CA-00686

APPELLEES

JOSEPH R. TERRACINA, M.D., REGIONAL SURGICAL CENTER, INC., ABOUT FACE, INC., SKIN CONSULTANTS, LLC, AND THE SKIN INSTITUTE

BRIEF OF APPELLANT

On Appeal From the Circuit Court of Washington County, Mississippi Case Number CI-2006-277

Don Barrett Sally Barrett Williamson Katherine Barrett Riley BARRETT LAW OFFICE, P.A. P.O. Box 987 Lexington, Mississippi 39095 Telephone: (662) 834-2376

ORAL ARGUMENT REQUESTED

CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PERSONS

STATEMENT OF ISSUE ON APPEAL

1. Whether the trial court erred in finding that all tort claims brought against the medical providers listed in Mississippi Code Annotated § 15-1-36 are subject to the two-year medical malpractice statute of limitations.

2. Whether the lower court erred in granting Appellees' Rule 12(b)(6) motion to dismiss upon finding that the two-year medical malpractice statute of limitation of Mississippi Code Annotated § 15-1-36 barred Appellant's claims for fraud, fraudulent inducement, civil conspiracy, medical battery, intentional infliction of emotional distress, and unjust enrichment as stated in Appellant's First Amended Complaint.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This case involves claims brought by the Appellant, Angelia Chitty, for (1) fraud, (2) fraudulent inducement, (3) civil conspiracy, (4) medical battery, (5) intentional infliction of emotional distress, (6) and unjust enrichment against a medical doctor, Joseph R. Terracina, and his three affiliated medical businesses. Appellant presents no explicit claim for medical malpractice, and none of her claims may be properly characterized as medical malpractice claims. Rather, Appellant's claims arise from Dr. Terracina's self-dealing in his medical businesses by performing a medical procedure on Ms. Chitty, then submitting a false invoice for the pathological testing of the skin sample from another pathology laboratory in Texas, when in fact Dr. Terracina himself performed the pathological testing, as well as collected substantial money from Ms. Chitty for such testing. Appellant's claims against Dr. Terracina arise solely from his fraudulent business dealings, and not from any assertion by Ms. Chitty that the medical care rendered by Dr. Terracina was negligent or harmful.

In the case below, Defendants filed an early motion for summary judgment asserting, *inter alia*, that the causes of action stated in the First Amended Complaint fell within the mandate of Mississippi Code Annotated § 15-1-36, including the two-year statute of limitations found in the statute. The Washington County Circuit Court, Honorable W. Ashley Hines, accepted Defendants' argument that the two-year limitation period applied and Ms. Chitty's claims were barred. The case was dismissed and this appeal followed.

Therefore, the narrow issue presented by this appeal is whether the conduct described in Appellant's First Amended Complaint is of the type which falls under the two-year medical malpractice statute of limitation of Mississippi Code Annotated § 15-1-36.

2

STATEMENT OF FACTS RELEVANT TO THIS APPEAL

Appellant Angelia H. Chitty (hereinafter "Mrs. Chitty") is an adult resident of Holmes County, Mississippi. R. at 133.

Appellee Joseph R. Terracina, M.D. (hereinafter "Dr. Terracina"), is an adult resident of Washington County, Mississippi. *Id.* The remaining Appellees in this appeal, Regional Surgical Centre, Inc., About Face, Inc., Skin Consultants, LLC, and The Skin Institute, are businesses owned by Dr. Terracina through which he performs services and sells products related to his practice of dermatological medicine. R. at 133-134.

On January 26, 2004, Mrs. Chitty went to see Dr. Terracina because she had a small, red, raised spot on her cheek under her left eye that she was concerned about. R. at 136. Dr. Terracina examined the spot and determined that he needed to perform a biopsy to ascertain whether or not the spot was cancerous. *Id.* On the same visit, Dr. Terracina numbed the spot, took a small portion of the spot, and gave Mrs. Chitty one or two stitches to close the would. *Id.*

Dr. Terracina gave Plaintiff a list of recommended products that she should use for her face, which he sold through his company About Face. R. at 136. Dr. Terracina told Mrs. Chitty how to care for the incision and charged her \$391.00 for her office visit and treatment on January 26, 2004. *Id.* At the time of this treatment, Mrs. Chitty did not have health insurance to cover payment of her medical bills. *Id.*

On February 5, 2004, Mrs. Chitty received a letter from Dr. Terracina's office stating that the spot was cancerous and that she would need to return to his office on February 24, 2004 to have the rest of the spot removed. R. at 136. When Mrs. Chitty called to inquire about the cost of the procedure, she was informed that the cost would be between \$1,500.00 and \$2,000.00. *Id.* Mrs. Chitty was very anxious and upset at this news because she did not have health insurance

and Dr. Terracina required payment in advance before he would perform the procedure to remove the remainder of the allegedly cancerous spot. *Id.*

In order to determine whether the tissue was cancerous, Dr. Terracina sent the tissue sample to his own laboratory, The Skin Institute, for testing. R. at 136. Dr. Terracina, now acting as pathologist as well as dermatologist, signed a report to himself dated February 23, 2004, as "requesting physician" stating that the tissue was cancerous ("squamous cell carcinoma, invasive"). *Id.* The report, however, instead of listing The Skin Institute as the laboratory, misleadingly lists Galveston Dermatological Laboratory as the laboratory where the testing was conducted. *Id.*

In the intervening period of time, Mrs. Chitty went to see another dermatologist, Dr. Bologna, who removed the remainder of the spot by a different method that did not require stitches and sent the tissue sample to Duckworth Pathology laboratory to determine if the tissue was cancerous. R. at 137. The report concluded that there was no cancer. *Id.* Mrs. Chitty then called and canceled her February 24, 2004 appointment with Dr. Terracina.

In his treatment of Mrs. Chitty, Dr. Terracina followed the scheme of removing a small portion of skin abnormality and testing it himself, but misleadingly putting Galveston Dermatopathology Laboratory as the testing center on the report. R. at 137. Dr. Terracina then reported the sample as cancerous and pressed Mrs. Chitty to have it removed immediately by Dr. Terracina himself, while planning to charge Mrs. Chitty in advance for the expensive surgical procedure. *Id.* Dr. Terracina also pressured his patients to purchase face products sold by his business, About Face, to minimize the scarring from the biopsy procedure which is, in fact, caused by using unnecessary stitches. *Id.*

Mrs. Chitty filed the suit which is the subject of this appeal on November 22, 2006. R. at 1. Mrs. Chitty filed an amended complaint on November 15, 2007. R. at 133. Appellees filed their motion to dismiss or, in the alternative, for summary judgment, on December 27, 2007. R. at 59. The Washington County Circuit Court entered the Judgment of Dismissal of Mrs. Chitty's claims on March 5, 2008. R. at 116. Mrs. Chitty's case was dismissed despite the prominent statement in her complaint that "[p]laintiff hereby restates that this complaint does not allege medical malpractice, and Plaintiff is not seeking recovery for medical malpractice, but only for the causes and claims listed in this Complaint." R. at 135.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

Because this appeal involves a question of law arising from the trial court's grant of summary judgment, the proper standard of review for this appeal is *de novo. See ABC Mfr. Corp. v. Doyle*, 749 So.2d 43, 45 (Miss. 1999).

The trial court dismissed the underlying case because, in its view, the applicable two year statute of limitation had expired when Appellant's case was filed on November 22, 2006. The actions giving rise to the underlying complaint occurred in January and February of 2004. In order to affirm the trial court's decision, this Court must accept the premise that Appellant's claims are medical malpractice claims. Appellant firmly maintains that her claims cannot be characterized as medical malpractice claims. Therefore, the two-year medical malpractice statute of limitation does not apply to her claim, and the trial court erred in dismissing her complaint with prejudice.

In the case of *Howell v. Garden Park Community Hospital*, 2008 WL 4042786 (Miss. Ct. App., September 2, 2008) the Mississippi Court of Appeals adopted a test for determining whether a case falls within the procedural and substantive requirements of Miss. Code Ann. § 15-1-36. Appellant maintains that, under the rule adopted in the *Howell* case, her claims clearly are not properly characterized as medical malpractice claims and, therefore, are not subject to the two-year medical malpractice statute of limitation. The rule of the *Howell* case and its application to this appeal are discussed in Appellant's argument proper.

After *de novo* review of the nature of the claims asserted and a comparison with the language of Miss. Code Ann. § 15-1-36, Appellant seeks reversal of the trial court's dismissal of her claims and a remand to the trial court for further proceedings.

ARGUMENT

A. STANDARD OF REVIEW

The case below was dismissed by the trial court before any discovery was conducted. The sole issue was whether this case should be characterized as a medical malpractice case falling within the two year medical malpractice statute of limitations contained in Miss. Code Ann. § 15-1-36. Because this appeal involves a question of law arising from the trial court's dismissal on a question of law, not fact, the proper standard of review for this appeal is *de novo*. *See ABC Mfr. Corp. v. Doyle*, 749 So.2d 43, 45 (Miss. 1999).

The trial court did not consider any matters outside of the pleadings in this case. Therefore, although Dr. Terracina's motion was styled as a "Motion to Dismiss and/or Motion for Summary Judgment," *see* R. at 59, the trial court granted the motion to dismiss under Miss. R. Civ. P. 12(b)(6), and not the alternative motion for summary judgment under Miss. R. Civ. P. 56. Whether the motion is treated as one under Miss. R. Civ. P. 12(b)(6) or 56, this Court's standard of review is the same – *de novo. See Lee v. Thompson*, 859 So.2d 981, 986 (Miss. 2003).

When considering a motion to dismiss, the allegations in the complaint must be taken as true, and the motion should not be granted unless it appears beyond doubt that the plaintiff will be unable to prove any set of facts in support of his claim. *T.M. v. Noblitt*, 650 So.2d 1340, 1342 (Miss. 1995), citing *Overstreet v. Merlos*, 570 So.2d 1196 (Miss. 1990); *Defoe v. Great Southern National Bank*, 547 So.2d 786 (Miss. 1989). In light of these rules, the *de novo* question for this Court to determine is whether the trial court erred in deciding that it was beyond doubt that Mrs. Chitty, the Appellant, could prove that none of her claims, including fraud, fraudulent inducement, civil conspiracy, emotional distress and unjust enrichment, survived the two year statute of limitations.

B. THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN HOLDING THAT ALL TORT CLAIMS AGAINST A MEDICAL PROVIDER ARE SUBJECT TO THE TWO-YEAR MEDICAL MALPRACTICE STATUTE OF LIMITATIONS

1. If Affirmed, the Rule Set Forth in This Case Would Lead to Untenable Results in Mississippi Cases

The statute at issue in this appeal states as follows:

(1) For any claim accruing on or before June 30, 1998, and except as otherwise provided in this section, no claim in tort may be brought against a licensed physician, osteopath, dentist, hospital, institution for the aged or infirm, nurse, pharmacist, podiatrist, optometrist or chiropractor for injuries or wrongful death arising out of the course of medical, surgical or other professional services unless it is filed within two (2) years from the date the alleged act, omission or neglect shall or with reasonable diligence might have been first known or discovered.

Miss. Code Ann. § 15-1-36(1).

In the trial court's Opinion filed with its judgment of dismissal, the Honorable W. Ashley Hines wrote categorically that "this Court finds that the statute is unambiguous and that the intent of the legislature was to include all tort claims, including those brought by the Plaintiff, against the listed individuals, including physicians, under the two (2) year statute of limitations." R. at 115. It is instructive to examine the logical results of the trial courts' ruling. The trial court's rigid rule would lead to untenable results. For instance, the cause of action of "tortious breach of contract" is recognized in Mississippi. *See Amsouth Bank v. Quimby*, 963 So.2d 1145 (Miss. 2007); *Era Franchise Systems, Inc. v. Mathis*, 931 So.2d 1278 (Miss. 2006). Under the trial court's reasoning, claim for tortious breach of contract would certainly fall under the broad definition of "all claims in tort." To provide an example of the results of the trial court's ruling, if a breach of contract claim were brought by a trucking company against a hospital for nonpayment of the bill of a vendor, the rule established by the trial court would pull such a case under the medical malpractice statute of limitations because the tort claim (tortious breach of

contract) was brought against an entity listed in the medical malpractice statute (a hospital). Such a result was not intended by the legislature.

Another demonstration of the untenable results of such a rule is shown in the case of *Copiah Medical Associates v. Mississippi Baptist Health Systems*, 898 So.2d 656 (Miss. 2005). There, a group of medical doctors known as the Copiah Medical Associates brought claims for breach of contract, breach of duty of good faith and fair dealing, and breach of fiduciary duties against a hospital corporation, Mississippi Baptist Health Systems. *Id.* There can be no question that the case was simply a business dispute between a physician's group and a hospital which led to a lawsuit containing tort claims against the hospital. The case was not a medical malpractice case. However, under the strict rule set forth by the trial court in the case below, a group of medical doctors suing a hospital (an entity listed under Miss. Code Ann. § 15-1-36) over a business dispute would be subject to the two-year medical malpractice statute of limitations. Such a result was certainly not intended by the legislature.

Exactly the same incongruous result has been reached by the Circuit Court of Washington County in the present case. The Appellant, Mrs. Chitty, has a business dispute with her doctor, Dr. Terracina, and several businesses that he owns. R. at 136. Mrs. Chitty is aggrieved over Dr. Terracina's alleged fraudulent billing conduct and falsification of records and invoices. *Id.* To seek redress for Dr. Terracina's fraudulent conduct, Mrs. Chitty filed a lawsuit listing causes of action for fraud, fraudulent inducement, civil conspiracy, medical battery, intentional infliction of emotional distress, and unjust enrichment. R. at 137-142. Mrs. Chitty specifically disclaimed any recovery for medical malpractice and included a statement in her complaint that the complaint "does not allege medical malpractice, and Plaintiff is not seeking recovery for medical malpractice, but only for the causes and claims listed in this Complaint." R. at 135 (emphasis in original).

Under these circumstances, Mrs. Chitty's claims against Dr. Terracina and his businesses did not "arise out of the course of medical, surgical or other professional services" under the terms of the statute. *See* Miss. Code Ann. § 15-1-36(1). To the contrary, Mrs. Chitty's claims arose out of Dr. Terracina's deliberate misrepresentation to her that she had cancer in order to induce her to undergo additional procedures that were not necessary under the circumstances. R. at 138. These misrepresentations did not arise from professional medical services; they arose from Dr. Terracina's ill will in attempting to obtain financial gain through inducement to undergo unnecessary procedures. The claims asserted by Mrs. Chitty are not claims for medical malpractice, and it is clear that the legislature, in enacting the two year statute of limitations for medical malpractice, did not intend to include every conceivable tort against physicians and hospitals in the coverage of the statute.

2. The Claims Set Forth By Mrs. Chitty Fall Within the General Three-Year Statute of Limitations of Miss. Code. Ann. § 15-1-49

Every claim stated by Mrs. Chitty falls within the three-year purview of Miss. Code Ann. § 15-1-49, which states as follows:

(1) All actions for which no other period of limitation is prescribed shall be commenced within three (3) years next after the cause of such action accrued, and not after.

Miss. Code Ann. 15-1-49(1)

This statute covers actions for fraud. See Parker v. Mann Life Ins. Co., 949 So.2d 57 (Miss. App. 2006) (Three-year statute of limitations for fraud action begins to run when a person, with reasonable diligence, first knew or should have known of the fraud). All of the other claims set forth in Mrs. Chitty's First Amended Complaint are covered by the three-year statute of limitations because no other period of limitations is prescribed by the Mississippi Code.

In sum, this is not a situation where a claimant seeks to avoid complying with statutory requirements by disclaiming a medical malpractice recovery, and then going forward in the complaint to state a claim that plainly arises from medical malpractice. Mrs. Chitty has legitimate claims for fraud, fraudulent inducement, civil conspiracy, emotional distress and unjust enrichment. She has stated those claims, and explicitly disclaimed any sort of recovery for actions arising out of professional medical services, such as medical negligence. Under these circumstances, the ruling of the Washington County Circuit Court should be reversed. The trial court wrongly interpreted the statute to include any and all torts asserted against an individual or entity listed in Miss. Code Ann. § 15-1-36. The trial court ignored a crucial phrase in conducting its analysis. The correct interpretation is: all torts **arising out of the course of medical, surgical or other professional services** which are brought against an individual or entity listed in Miss. Code Ann. § 15-1-36. The trial must arising out of the two-year medical services which are brought against an individual or entity listed in Miss. Code Ann. § 15-1-36. The trial court ignored a crucial phrase in conducting its analysis. The correct interpretation is: all torts **arising out of the course of medical, surgical or other professional services** which are brought against an individual or entity listed in Miss. Code Ann. § 15-1-36. The fraud of Dr. Terracina was not a medical, surgical, or professional service. Therefore, claims brought seeking redress for such fraud are not subject to the two-year medical malpractice statute of limitations.

C. THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN GRANTING APPELLEES' RULE 12(B)(6) MOTION TO DISMISS UPON FINDING THAT THE TWO-YEAR MEDICAL MALPRACTICE STATUTE OF LIMITATIONS BARRED APPELLANT'S CLAIMS

At the time that the Washington County Circuit Court decided the subject motion to dismiss, on March 4, 2008, this issue was a matter of first impression in the State of Mississippi. Since that time, the Mississippi Court of Appeals has issued an important opinion that sets forth a systematic test for determining whether a particular cause of action falls within the two-year medical malpractice statute of limitations. *See Howell v. Garden Park Community Hosp.*, 2008 WL 4042786 (Miss. App. Sept. 2, 2008). In *Howell*, the plaintiff, Patricia Howell, was injured after she fell from an x-ray table at Garden Park Community Hospital. *Id* at *1. She filed suit,

alleging general negligence as a result of the medical technician's mishandling of the x-ray table. *Id.* In answering the claim, the defendants asserted, *inter alia*, that the negligence claim was one for medical negligence, and the suit should be dismissed because the two-year statute of limitations for a medical malpractice claim had expired. *Id.* The trial court agreed, and granted the defendants' motion for summary judgment on the basis of the expiration of the two-year statute of limitations. *Id.* The Mississippi Court of Appeals affirmed the dismissal, but in the course of its analysis it set forth an important new rule for deciding when a case falls within the two-year statute of limitations, as follows:

(1) whether the particular wrong is "treatment related" or caused by a dereliction of professional skill,

(2) whether the wrong requires expert medical evidence to determine whether the appropriate standard of care was breached,

(3) whether the pertinent act or omission involved assessment of the patient's condition,

(4) whether an incident occurred in the context of a physician-patient relationship,

or was within the scope of activities which a hospital is licensed to perform,

(5) whether the injury would have occurred if the patient had not sought treatment,

(6) whether the tort alleged was intentional.

Howell v. Garden Park Community Hosp., 2008 WL 4042786 at *3, citing Coleman v. Deno, 813 So.2d 303, 315-16 (La. 2002).

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