IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

ANGELIA H. CHITTY

APPELLANT

VS.

CASE NO. 2008-CA-00686

JOSEPH R. TERRACINA, M.D., REGIONAL SURGICAL CENTER, INC., ABOUT FACE, INC., SKIN CONSULTANTS, LLC, and THE SKIN INSTITUTE

APPELLEES

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF WASHINGTON COUNTY, MISSISSIPPI

HONORABLE ASHLEY HINES, CIRCUIT JUDGE

BRIEF OF APPELLEES

Of Counsel to Appellees:

Lonnie D. Bailey, Esq. (MSB UPSHAW, WILLIAMS, BIGGERS, BECKHAM & RIDDICK, LLP 309 Fulton Street
Post Office Drawer 8230
Greenwood, Mississippi 38935-8230
Telephone: (662) 455-1613

Fax: (662) 455-7884

I. INTRODUCTION
II. STATEMENT OF THE ISSUE
III. STATEMENT OF THE CASE A. Nature of the Case B. The Course of the Proceedings and Disposition in the Court Below C. Statement of the Relevant Facts
IV. SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT
V. ARGUMENT AND AUTHORITY
A. Standard of Review
 B. The Two-Year Statute of Limitation Found in Miss. Code Ann. § 15-1-36 is Applicable to Chitty's Claims. 1. Miss. Code Ann. § 15-1-36 is Applicable to the Complaint Filed by Chitty. 2. Chitty's Claims are "In Tort". 3. Chitty's Claims "Arise out of the Course of" Medical, Surgical or Other Professional Services She Received from Defendants. 4. The Trial Court's Ruling Would Not Lead to Untenable Results. 5. Alternatively, Chitty's Amended Complaint Must Also be Dismissed Because She Failed to Comply with Statutory Pre-Suit Requirements. 1
VI CONCLUSION

TABLE OF AUTHORITIES

CASES

Allgood v. Bradford, 473 So.2d 402 (Miss. 1985)
Arceo v. Tolliver, 949 So.2d 691 (Miss. 2006)
Arnona v. Smith, 749 So.2d 63 (Miss. 1999)
Bell v. West Harrison County Dist., 523 So.2d 1031 (Miss. 1988)
Bryan Constr. Co. v. Thad Ryan Cadillac, Inc., 300 So.2d 444 (Miss. 1974)
Coleman v. Deno, 813 So.2d 303 (La. 2002)
Fellows v. Brown, 9 George 541, 38 Miss. 541 (Miss. Err & App. 1860)
Forest Hill Nursing Center and Long Term Care Management, LLC v. Brister, No. 2006-IA-00364 - SCT (decided October 23, 2008)
Estate of Grimes ex. rel. Wrongful Death Beneficiaries v. Warrington, 982 So.2d 365 (Miss. 2008)
Howell v. Garden Park Community Hosp., No. 2007-CA-00726-COA, 2008 WL 4042786 (Miss. Ct. App., Sept. 2, 2008)
Jones v. Fluor Daniel Servs. Corp., 959 So.2d 1044 (Miss. 2007)
Lambert v. Ogden, 423 So.2d 1319 (Miss. 1985)
Leffler v. Sharp, 891 So.2d 152 (Miss. 2004)
Mathis v. Jackson County Bd. of Supervisors, 916 So.2d 564 (Miss. Ct. App. 2005) 10
Pitalo v. GPCH-GP, Inc., 933 So.2d 927 (Miss. 2006)
Roberts v. Miss. Republican Party State Executive Comm., 465 So.2d 1050 (Miss. 1985) 16
Sarris v. Smith, 782 So.2d 721 (Miss. 2001)
Saul v. Jenkins, 963 So.2d 552 (Miss. 2007)
Singley v. Smith, 844 So.2d 448 (Miss. 2003)

Ralph Walker, Inc. v. Gallagher, 926 So.2d 890 (Miss. 2006)
Windham v. Latco of Mississippi, Inc., 972 So.2d 608 (Miss. 2008)
CONSTITUTIONS, STATUTES AND OTHER AUTHORITIES
Black's Law Dictionary 1489 (6th ed. 1990)
LSA-R.S. 40:1299.41(A)(13)
Miss. Code Ann. § 11-1-58 (Rev. 2003)
Miss. Code Ann. § 15-1-36 (Rev. 2003)
Prosser and Keeton on Torts § 1 (5th ed. 1984)

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

ANGELIA H. CHITTY

APPELLANT

VS.

CASE NO.: 2008-CA-00686

JOSEPH R. TERRACINA, M.D., REGIONAL SURGICAL CENTER, INC., ABOUT FACE, INC., SKIN CONSULTANTS, LLC, and THE SKIN INSTITUTE

APPELLEES

BRIEF OF APPELLEES

I. INTRODUCTION

This action purports to be an action brought by Angelia Chitty ("Chitty") against the Appellees, alleging that Chitty was injured as the result of fraudulent conduct arising out of medical treatment she received from Joseph R. Terracina, M.D. in January, 2004.

On November 22, 2006, nearly three (3) years after the alleged tortious conduct, Chitty attempted to institute an action in the Circuit Court of Washington County by filing a pleading denominated as a "Complaint" against Appellees. R. 1-10. The statute of limitations for any cause of action which might have accrued to Chitty began to run no later than January 26, 2004, and expired on January 26, 2006. Miss. Code Ann. § 15-1-36(2) (Rev. 2003). As no action was begun prior to January 26, 2006, Chitty's claims are time-barred and the trial court correctly dismissed her claims with prejudice.²

In this brief, references to the record are as follows: "R.____" refers to the Clerk's papers; "Tr. ____" refers to the Court Reporter's Transcript of the Summary Judgment Hearing before the trial court on February 20, 2008; and "R.E. ____" refers to Appellant's record excerpts.

Moreover, Chitty did not provide prior written notice to Appellees at least sixty (60) days prior to filing suit, as required by Miss. Code Ann. § 15-1-36(15) (Rev. 2003). In addition, (continued...)

Chitty now appeals to this Court on the basis that her claims did not arise out of the course of medical, surgical or other professional services pursuant to Miss. Code Ann. § 15-1-36(2) and were, therefore, not barred by the two-year statute of limitations contained therein. Chitty's position demonstrates a fundamental misunderstanding of § 15-1-36(2) and of the trial court's ruling below. Chitty attempts to ascribe a much narrower scope to the meaning of Miss. Code Ann. § 15-1-36(2) than did the Legislature. The plain, clear and unambiguous words of the statute at issue show that it applies to time bar the claims in Chitty's Amended Complaint.

II. STATEMENT OF THE ISSUE

Whether the trial court correctly held that all of Plaintiff's claims arose out of the course of medical, surgical, or professional services rendered and were, therefore, time-barred by the statute of limitations contained in the Miss. Code Ann. § 15-1-36.

III. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. Nature of the Case

The case below, filed by Angelia Chitty against Dr. Joseph Terracina and his clinic interests ("Dr. Terracina"), involved allegations of fraudulent conduct arising out of medical treatment she sought and received from Dr. Terracina in January 2004. Amended Complaint, R. 133-144. After discovery and motion practice, the Circuit Court of Washington County granted Defendants' Motion

²(...continued)

Chitty did not accompany the Complaint with a certificate of expert consultation as required by Miss. Code Ann. § 11-1-58 (Rev. 2003). As a result of these omissions, Chitty's complaint was also due to be dismissed. The trial court, however, did not find it necessary to reach these issues. R. 113-15, R.E. 7-9 (The Record Excerpts of Appellant served on counsel for Appellees were unnumbered. The page numbers have been determined by counting pages, excluding the cover sheet.)

to Dismiss and/or for Summary Judgment on the basis that all of Chitty's claims were subject to Miss. Code Ann. § 15-1-36(2) and were time-barred because Chitty's initial complaint was filed more than two (2) years after her claims accrued. R. 113-15, 116, R.E. 7-10.

Chitty concedes that her claims are "torts". R. 102. She also acknowledges that her initial complaint was filed more than two (2) years after the alleged tortious conduct. Consequently, the only issue before this Court on appeal is whether the trial court erred when it necessarily found that Chitty's claims arose out of the course of medical, surgical or other professional services.

B. The Course of the Proceedings and Disposition in the Court Below

Angelia H. Chitty v. Joseph R. Terracina, M.D., et al., Civil Action No. CI 2006-277, was initially filed in the Circuit Court of Washington County, Mississippi, on November 22, 2006. R. 1-10. An Amended Complaint was filed on November 15, 2007. Ms. Chitty charged that Dr. Terracina was guilty of fraud, fraudulent inducement, civil conspiracy, medical battery, intentional infliction of emotional distress and unjust enrichment, all in connection with the rendition by Dr. Terracina of dermatological/pathological services to Ms. Chitty, at her request. R. 133-144.

On November 8, 2007, Dr. Terracina answered the Amended Complaint. R. 51-58. Dr. Terracina denied the essential allegations of the Amended Complaint³ and raised, among others, the defense that Chitty's claims were time-barred. *Id.* After discovery and motion practice, on December 27, 2007, Dr. Terracina filed Defendants' Motion to Dismiss and/or for Summary Judgment. R. 59-100. The motion set out three (3) reasons for dismissal: (a) that the action was time-barred; (b) that plaintiff failed to provide prior written notice of her intention to sue as required

Dr. Terracina admitted, among other things, that he is a medical doctor offering medical services to the public and that he biopsied a lesion on Ms. Chitty's cheek below her left lower eyelid.

by § 15-1-36(15); and (c) that plaintiff did not accompany the complaint with a certificate of expert consultation as required by Miss. Code Ann. § 11-1-58. *Id*.

On February 20, 2008, the trial court held a hearing on Defendants' Motion to Dismiss and/or for Summary Judgment. After hearing argument of counsel, the trial court took the motion under advisement. Tr. 17. On March 4, 2008, the trial court issued its Opinion and Judgment of Dismissal. R. 113-116; R.E. 7-10. Noting plaintiff's concession that her claims are torts and that the initial complaint was filed more than two (2) years after Dr. Terracina's alleged wrongful conduct, the trial court found that Miss. Code Ann. § 15-1-36(2) is unambiguous and that Chitty's claims were time-barred. R. 113-115; R.E. 7-9. Concurrent with its written opinion, the trial court issued its Judgment of Dismissal, dismissing all of Chitty's claims with prejudice. R. 116; R.E. 10.

C. Statement of the Relevant Facts

On January 26, 2004, Chitty presented herself at Dr. Terracina's medical offices concerned about a red, raised spot on her cheek below her left eyelid. R. 133-144. Dr. Terracina, a board-certified dermatologist and pathologist, obtained a biopsy of the lesion. R. 100. Pathological examination of the biopsy revealed a squamous cell carcinoma in situ. *Id.* By letter dated February 2, 2004, Dr. Terracina informed Chitty of the results of the biopsy and scheduled a return appointment for additional treatment. *Id.*

Prior to her scheduled return appointment, Chitty advised Dr. Terracina's office that she intended to seek follow-up treatment elsewhere. *Id.* Chitty has received no further treatment from Dr. Terracina or his clinic. *Id.*

Apparently Chitty decided to seek a second opinion and went to see another Greenville dermatologist, Dr. Bologna. R. 137. Dr. Bologna opined that the remainder of the bump on Ms.

Chitty's cheek was not cancerous. *Id.* Based on these facts, Chitty filed her initial Complaint accusing Dr. Terracina of fraud, fraudulent inducement, civil conspiracy, medical battery, intentional infliction of emotional distress and unjust enrichment. R. 1-10.

IV. SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

After considering Defendants' Motion to Dismiss and/or for Summary Judgment, Chitty's response and having heard argument of counsel, the trial court found that all of the claims set out in Chitty's Amended Complaint were subject to the limitations provisions of Miss. Code Ann. §15-1-36(2) and were, thus, time-barred because the initial complaint in this action was filed more than two (2) years after the claims accrued. This appeal presents a singular legal question: whether the claims arose out of the course of medical, surgical or other professional services. A *de novo* review of the record confirms that they do and that the claims are, thus, time-barred by the statute.

Chitty does not contest that the claims set out in her Amended Complaint are "torts". She does not argue that she filed her initial complaint within two (2) years after her claims purportedly accrued. She argues, instead, that affirmance would lead to "untenable results" in future cases and that, while her claims are torts, they did not arise out of medical, surgical or other professional services.

The trial court found, correctly, that § 15-1-36(2) is clear and unambiguous. Applying the clear meaning of the statute to the claims set out in Chitty's Amended Complaint, the trial court found that they were time-barred as a matter of law.

Without question, § 15-1-36(2) applies to the claims set out in Chitty's Amended Complaint. Her attempts to "plead around" the limitation provision by disclaiming medical negligence are unavailing. Ms. Chitty sought medical and surgical services from Dr. Terracina. Dr. Terracina

provided those services. Apparently unhappy with Dr. Terracina's medical services, diagnosis, clinic, staff or some other reason, Chitty then sought a second opinion and never returned to Dr. Terracina. Based on this one visit, Ms. Chitty accused him of fraud, fraudulent inducement, civil conspiracy, medical battery, intentional infliction of emotional distress and unjust enrichment. Any way that Chitty tries to "spin" her lawsuit, all of her claims spring from her request for medical and surgical services from Dr. Terracina. For these reasons the claims are time-barred by § 15-1-36(2) and the trial court's judgment of dismissal is due to be affirmed.

V. ARGUMENT AND AUTHORITY

A. Standard of Review

The trial court granted the Defendants' Motion to Dismiss and/or Motion for Summary Judgment. The standard of review of either a motion to dismiss or a motion for summary judgment is de novo. See Ralph Walker, Inc. v. Gallagher, 926 So.2d 890, 893 (Miss. 2006) (stating that an appellate court is to review de novo the grant, or denial, of a motion to dismiss for failure to state a claim); Estate of Grimes ex. rel. Wrongful Death Beneficiaries v. Warrington, 982 So.2d 365, 367 (Miss. 2008) (stating that when reviewing a trial court's grant or denial of summary judgment, this Court applies a de novo standard of review pursuant to Rule 56(c) of the Rules of Civil Procedure) (citing Jones v. Fluor Daniel Servs. Corp., 959 So.2d 1044, 1046 (Miss. 2007); Leffler v. Sharp, 891 So.2d 152, 156 (Miss. 2004)).

Furthermore, the only issue on this appeal is whether the two-year statute of limitations governs Chitty's tort claims. The application of a statute of limitation is a question of law to which a *de novo* standard also applies. *Windham v. Latco of Mississippi, Inc.*, 972 So.2d 608, 611 (Miss. 2008) (citing *Sarris v. Smith*, 782 So.2d 721, 723 (Miss. 2001)).

B. The Two-Year Statute of Limitation Found in Miss. Code Ann. § 15-1-36 is Applicable to Chitty's Claims.

Chitty filed her Complaint on November 22, 2006, seeking damages arising out of the performance of a dermatology procedure by Dr. Terracina that occurred nearly three (3) years earlier on or about January 26, 2004, at the Skin Institute in Greenville, Mississippi. The Complaint was amended on or about November 12, 2007. R. 133-144. Chitty's Amended Complaint alleged that Dr. Terracina was guilty of certain tortious conduct consisting of fraud, fraudulent inducement, conspiracy, medical battery and intentional infliction of emotional distress, all arising out of the course of medical, surgical or other professional services provided to her by Dr. Terracina. Chitty failed to properly file her claim within the time constraints proscribed by the provisions of Miss. Code Ann. § 15-1-36(2), which requires that a plaintiff pursue any claim in tort against a physician arising out of medical, surgical or professional services within two (2) years from the date of the event, act or omission.

1. Miss. Code Ann. § 15-1-36 is Applicable to the Complaint Filed by Chitty.

The guiding and applicable statute of limitations referable to a health care provider such as a physician is found in Miss. Code Ann. § 15-1-36 and in relevant part, it states as follows:⁴

(2) For any claim accruing on or after July 1, 1998, and except as otherwise provided in this section, no claim *in tort* may be brought against a licensed *physician*, osteopath, dentist, hospital, institution for the aged or infirm, nurse, pharmacist, podiatrist, optometrist or chiropractor *for injuries* or wrongful death *arising out of the course of medical, surgical or other professional services* unless it is filed within two (2) years from the date the alleged act, omission

In the Brief of Appellants, at 8, Chitty cites § 15-1-36(1), an inapplicable subsection of Miss. Code Ann. § 15-1-36, as the controlling statute.

or neglect shall or with reasonable diligence might have been first known or discovered, and, except as described in paragraphs (a) and (b) of this subsection, in no event more than seven (7) years after the alleged act, omission or neglect occurred....

Miss. Code Ann. § 15-1-36(2) (emphasis added).

This Court has repeatedly stated "that words used in a statute should be given their ordinary and popular meaning in an attempt to glean legislative intent from the statute." *Bell v. West Harrison County Dist.*, 523 So.2d 1031, 1033 (Miss. 1988). It is abundantly clear from the provisions of this statute, that any claim "in tort" which arises out of the rendering of "professional services" by a "physician" must be pursued within two years. By examining the terms "tort", "arising out of", and "professional services", the Court should easily conclude that the claims at issue in the present lawsuit fall squarely within the legislative intent of Miss. Code Ann. § 15-1-36 and are, thus, untimely.

2. <u>Chitty's Claims are "In Tort".</u>

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